July 17, 2013 (e-mailed to all proposers on this date)
ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

ADDENDUM #1
RFP 031401
University Digital Communication Support
Please note the following answers to questions that were asked prior to the deadline for inquiries date of 07/15/13 at 5:00 P.M., MST.
Note:  The time and due date of the RFP is 3:00 P.M., MST, 07/29/13 and not 07/22/13 

Questions:

1. As we see it, you are asking us to rebuild the whole of the ASU site. Are there parts of the site that you are not wanting rebuilt? This proposal is focusing on a) asu.edu: the homepage.  b) college level pages  c) asu.edu/degreesearch.  The proposal is not asking for all pages to be redesigned.
2. Is the current site in Drupal 6 or 7? The ASU site is currently built in Drupal 6, Drupal 7 and HTML.
3. Do you have any idea of a budget for this web project? We do not give budgetary information to proposers during the RFP process.
4. When was the ASU website last updated? It is constantly updated, and new design will be launched in August. 

5. What CMS do you currently use?  Do you plan to migrate to a new CMS? If so, do you need help evaluating CMS options? Drupal.  No, we do not plan to migrate to a new CMS.

6. What are your goals for this project? What will success look like? The goals of the project are to meet defined timelines, create academic program pages that are designed to effectively communicate to future students about distinctive features of the degree program and motivate them to enroll, and to see tangible enrollment increases. 

7. What is your budget for this phase of the project?  We do not give budgetary information to proposers during the RFP process.
8. Describe your internal capacity for content management and web development? We have a robust web development and content management staff.

9. How will the chosen consultant work with your program, admission, and IT staff? To be determined.

10. Who will be the main contact at ASU for this project?  The majority of the communication will go through Enrollment Marketing and Communications.  More information will be given to vendor awarded contract.  

11. How many firms were invited to bid on this work?  There were 17 suppliers total on the bid list for this RFP.
12. What is the selection timeline?  Do you anticipate convening on-campus finalist presentations?  We do not anticipate on-campus presentations.  We are seeking a quick evaluation and selection period.  

13. Please define the extent of ‘digital assets’.  Scope of digital assets may include: webpages, social networking presence, video, etc.  The majority of work is to focus on the web page content.  
14. The RFP cover pages shows two different deadline dates, which date is the deadline? July 29, 2013 at 3:00 P.M., MST.
15. Please define ‘prototypes’.  Prototypes are defined as design concept.  These can be delivered as Photoshop layer files.  
16. Does this family of digital assets to be used on these university and college-level webpages match the scope of what we are to review in Discover? The digital assets are to include times such as RFI forms, common buttons (i.e. ‘apply’ button), common navigation, etc. 
17. Do you have a scope expectation for conducting user-testing (size of audience, number of audiences)?  The user-testing scope has not been defined as this time. 
18. Is there a budget specifically for this work as outlined? If so, can you say what it is? We do not give budgetary information to proposers during the RFP process.
19. Do you have a current outside IT/digital vendor relationship, or one in the past two years? Yes, we do have external vendors for web development, however the majority of this work will be developed with internal ASU staff. 
20. What is the single, most important, measureable outcome from this project as outlined?  Tangible enrollment increases are the single most important outcome.
Regarding, “Critical review of university digital assets related to academic programs…” 

21. What are the prioritized goals of the site? 

The academic program pages are designed to effectively communicate to future students about the distinctive features of the degree program and motivate them to enroll. 

22. Are there any URLs involved other than www.asu.edu? 

a. Landing pages? No.
b. Microsites? No.
c. Secured or non-public pages? No.
d. Other? No.
23. Are email campaigns or templates part or this review? No.
a. If so, where can they be accessed? 

24. Are social media outposts part of this review? No.

a. If so, what URLs are to be included? 

25. Is e-store transactions and revenue part of this review? No.
a. If so, what URLs are to be included? 

26. Is online curriculum or course material part of this review? No.
a. If so, what URLs are to be included? 

27. Are mobile site(s) part of this review? No, however all new development must feature a responsive design. 

a. If so, what URLs are to be included? 

28. Are specific apps part of this review? No.
a. If so, where can they be located? 

29. What web traffic analytics tool(s) are currently utilized?  Google Analytics. Crazy Egg Heat Maps.

30. How many total assets are to be evaluated for search engine rankings? 

Approximately 300 degree pages.  This is for proposal purposes.  The final pages will be established post-award.  

31. Is content strategy and web content part of this review? Yes.
Regarding, “…student-centric language…” 

32. Does DISCOVERY AND AUDITING of student-centric language for academic programs specifically relate to everything that falls under the ACADEMICS button on the home page? Or does it apply to everything under FUTURE STUDENTS, too? 

Neither.  The majority of the work will be focused (a) asu.edu: the homepage, (b) college level pages,  and (c) asu.edu/degreesearch

33. How do you define “student-centric language?” 

Language that is written to be clear, concise and appealing to prospective students. 

34. Is there a critical review model that currently exists or has been previously used by ASU that we should be using when auditing language? 

No formal model has been used. 

35. It appears that many of the various colleges & schools have their own websites. Will it be possible to standardize the look, feel and tone so that they’re more consistent across the board? 

Correct.  Each college has their own site.  This project will seek to build more consistency across the sites.  

36. Will keyword density be a consideration? Request for question to be restated.
37. Does it need to be written at a certain grade level? No.

38. Will it need to be translated into any other languages? No.
39. Is the purpose of the content primarily to inform or to sell? Sell.
Regarding, “…user-satisfaction through surveys and focus groups...” 
40. How would you prioritize the audiences for the redevelopment of these aspects of the website? For example, how would you weight audience groups such as the below, noting that the list is not meant to be complete: 

#1 a. “Traditional” on-campus prospective undergraduate students from Arizona high schools 
#2 b. “Traditional” on-campus prospective undergraduate students from out-of-State high schools 

#3 c. On-campus prospective transferring undergraduate students from community colleges 

#4 d. Parents of undergraduate prospective students 

e. Adult re-entry on-campus undergraduate prospective students 

#5 f. On-campus prospective graduate students 

#6 g. Online prospective undergraduate students 

h. Hybrid online/on-campus prospective undergraduate students 

i. Non-degree seeking students 

#9 j. Alumni 

#8 k. Faculty/staff 

#10 l. Benefactors/donors 

#7 m. Current students (graduate or undergraduate) 

n. Rejecters (i.e. those who were accepted but did not enroll) 

o. Etc. 

41. So that we do not duplicate efforts, what, if any, primary research has been conducted to-date regarding the academic program pages? 

No formal studies have been conducted. 

42. Are there any current user satisfaction surveys that we can review before proceeding with the RFP? For example, it would be nice to understand what current data they have available and how fragmented it is across all assets. 

No.  Data will be shared with vendor awarded contract. 

43. The breaking down of this academic web page redevelopment initiative into stages is helpful. Along those lines, what proportion and/or what funds have been budgeted for, say, the “discovery and auditing” stage? 

Not yet determined.  

44. For out-of-state recruitment, what are key DMAs/drawing areas for the university, keeping in mind such areas could be either historically strong areas, future target areas or both? 

Data to be discussed upon an awarded contract. 

45. What dynamics has ASU observed in the composition of its prospective students that might affect the proposed activities for discovery and auditing? For example, is the university seeing more students of Hispanic descent, more female vs. male students, more international, more older students vs. recent high school graduates in their late teens, etc.? 
Please refer to uoia.asu.edu for enrollment trends and composition.  

46. If helpful or necessary for any aspects of the discovery component, what would be the university’s position on providing any lists? (Simply for sake of an example, if the agency proposed running some qualitative sessions in the San Francisco Bay Area among high school students that have inquired or applied to the university, would ASU be comfortable providing a list with contact information so that these students might be contacted regarding potentially participating in a research session? Obviously, any/all such lists are handled with appropriate sensitivity. 

ASU is willing to provide lists to the contracted vendor. 

47. How would you rank the academic program pages in terms of which receive the most traffic/interest? Knowing the vast array of programs offered, we might endeavor to conduct discovery research with a skew towards prospective audiences of particular programs. 

We can provide analytics to the most frequently visited pages to the contracted vendor. 

Regarding, “…conversion performance…” 

48. What types of “conversions” are included? 

Request for information, scheduled campus visits, applied for admission.

49. Can you confirm the URLs for the specific forms? 

See yourfuture.asu.edu for an example form. 

50. What conversion tracking or analytics tool(s) are currently utilized specific to conversion tracking? 

CRM analysis, email analytics, Google Analytics.  

51. What marketing automation platform(s) are in use? 

Silverpop. 

Regarding, “Reporting of findings and making recommendations from an audit of competitors’ digital assets and industry best practices.” 

52. Please list the specific competitor’s sites and URLs to be included in the competitive audit. 

Approximately 12 competitors are evaluated.  The list will be shared with the selected vendor.  Previous research will be shared and agreed upon format will be established with the vendor once a contract is awarded.  

a. If the competitors are not yet determined, who will make the determination? 

b. How many competitor sites will be involved in the audit? 

c. Is there an established format for the audit and findings presentation, or are you seeking the vendor to provide that? 

53. Will the audit of competitor’s sites also include: See answer to question 32. 

d. Email campaigns or templates? 

e. Social media outposts? 

f. Content 

g. E-store? 

h. On-line curriculum? 

i. Mobile website 

j. Specific apps? 

Regarding; “Template Development and User Testing” 

54. How many pages and/or tiers for the five prototype website comps. 

Up to three tiers per prototype.

55. Are these comps to be fully blown out final design, or are they plug and play templates? 

Plug and play templates.

56. Are the templates to be responsive design? 

Yes.

57. The family of digital assets for promotion, does that include web banner concepts and creative? This does not include web advertising banners at this time. 
a. If so, how many and of what sizes/formats? 

Regarding, ‘Implementation, training and coordination… Provide project coordination among a decentralized community of academic content developers to ensure ASU efficiently and effectively reaches project goals.” 

58. Define the scope/expectations of “project coordination” as it relates to this specific requirement. 

Establish timelines, goals and track progress.  Selected vendor will work with a central point of contact to participate in a committee.  Vendor will not need to manage people.

59. How many content developers/contributors will be on the project, and what is the scope of their role on the project? 

To be determined.

60. Will there be a main point of contact established for the group? 

a. If not, what is the protocol for communication? 

Yes.  Selected vendor will work with a central point of contact. 

61. How will efficiency and effectiveness be measured – and reported? 

Meeting established timelines will be the primary measurement. 

Regarding, “Implementation, training and coordination… Provide training document and training sessions with university web developers, content creators and department directors during implementation phase.” 
62. What role will the agency project coordinator have in the documentation – facilitator only or author or other? 

Author and Facilitator. 

63. What are the requirements for the training document? 
a. Are there any supplemental handouts or other channels to be considered for training deliverables? 

b. Who are the receiving audiences? 

Handouts, PDF’s or web pages are acceptable.  The documents will target university web development and communication staff. 

64. How many training sessions are required? 

a. Will they need to be tailored for each respective audience? 

b. What is the required format? For example, will they be in-person, online, both or other? 

c. Will subsequent or follow up training be offered/required (e.g. new hires, additional staff, etc.)? 

Future training will be handled with ASU resources.  

Regarding, “Implementation, training and coordination… Provide ad-hoc assistance during implementation to address any issues.” 
65. What is the process for funneling assistance requests? (e.g. online, telephone, email, etc.) 

a. If one is not already established, will the agency be required to provided recommendations and/or develop one? 

Selected vendor will work with central point of contact to discuss needed assistance.  

66. Is there a formal tracking system set up? No.

a. If not, will one need to be developed? And by whom? 

67. Will the agency be required to provide a central point of contact or a team of subject matter experts for all business groups who will be utilizing assistance? 

No, not for the initial project; however, if a college opts to establish an individual contract, vendor will need to work with them directly.  

Regarding, “Implementation, training and coordination… May be contracted to provide additional hands-on web development, content creation, or editing by individual academic units to implement” 
68. Is a content management system in place for this site? Yes.
a. If so, what is it? Drupal.
b. If not, is it anticipated that we should recommend a CMS? No.  Drupal is the ASU CMS.  

69. What is the platform on which this site will reside? Windows? Linux? Out of scope. 

70. What is the expected development framework? .Net? PHP? Drupal. 

71. Is it anticipated that the site will connect with any databases or systems, internal or external? 

This type of development is beyond the scope of the RFP.

72. Will we be tasked with documenting and creating these interactions? No.

a. If so, please describe the systems and provide the anticipated means to connect to them (API, direct database, etc.) 

73. To what browsers and versions should the site be targeted? 

The industry standard.  This can be discussed in more detail with vendor awarded contract.  

74. Regarding, “Provide post-launch evaluation and analytic reporting to demonstrate effectiveness of the initiative and areas in which to improve.” 
Will the analytics tools used currently be used in the post-launch evaluation, or may new analytics tools be utilized? 

Vendors are open to make recommendations. 

75. What are the main key performance indicators that are measured currently? 

Unique visitors, time on page, bounce rates and conversions. 

76. Are there additional metrics and/or reports (not currently in place) that will need to be included in post-launch deliverables? 

It is up to the selected vendor to make recommendations.
77. Did ASU work with an outside partner on the current website design?  If so, can you cite the name of the agency/firm? No
78. What is the make-up of ASU’s current marketing team?  Can you give us a sense of the overall internal operating structure and who is the overall web manager?

ASU has a decentralized marketing team.  For the purposes of this project, the selected firm will work with Enrollment Marketing and Communications and the University Marketing Office. 

79. Does “template development” referred to in #2 of Section V – Specifications/SOW mean html/css design templates, or is implementation into a CMS required?  Is that CMS Drupal?  Vendors will be responsible for HTML/CSS design, not CMS development.

80. Does ASU want the new site to follow a responsive-design strategy?
Yes.

81. In Implementation #3 of SOW, it’s not clear what exactly “implementation” is and who will be doing it – implement templates in Drupal?  Are we doing that, or on call to assist ASU staff as needed? ASU has a Drupal design community that will be primarily responsible for implementation.

82. There is mention of a phase-two redesign project.  Is this a separate RFP that has or will be issued?  The selected vendor from this RFP will be considered for future phase of development.  We do not anticipate issuing a future RFP.  

83. Are travel expenses to be included within the total base-price project estimate or will ASU be agreeable to these expenses being billed separately and in accordance with your formal reimbursement guidelines?  Travel expenses should be included in the estimate.

84. Are there any sites within or outside of higher education that ASU has reviewed that are indicative of the University’s preferences for overall look, style, functionality, etc.?  Yes.  Further information will be shared with the selected vendor.


Technology:
85. Are there any coding language requirements (.NET, Java, Ruby, etc. )? Which are preferred? Which should we stay away from?  ASU has adopted Drupal and Java as its primary methods of web development.  

86. Are there any points of integration for the website (CRM, Salesforce, ExactTarget, course catalog, custom applications, etc.)? If yes, what are they? Yes.  Points of integration include custom applications and Silverpop.

87. Has the CMS platform been selected? Will the same CMS platform be used for all sites?  Drupal is the CMS platform, it will be used for all sites.

88. Will there be a greater premium placed on modern site appearance/features or on compatibility with older browser (5 years old or older) technologies? For example, if we use a more ‘modern’ approach, the site could be Responsive Web Design. But with a responsive site, you give up some ability to be compatible with older browsers.
Responsive, modern design is a priority.

89. Will the templates need to be responsive (e.g. adjust layout to suit mobile devices) or will an alternate strategy be pursued for serving handheld devices (e.g. entirely separate smartphone version of the site)?  Yes.  The templates will need to be responsive.
90. Are their special requirements around content publishing workflow (e.g. multi-stage approvals from various people or departments)?  Yes.  ASU works in a decentralized environment and work flow and multi-stage approvals are common.

We would like to clarify what you are looking for in template development.
91. Should we budget for 5 entirely different concepts that would then be prototyped? Or are you looking for 5 different templates that can then be replicated?

5 different templates that can be replicated.

92. Are you looking for 5 different concepts per site item (site navigation, templates, homepages, etc.)?  No, just the 5 templates.
93. Will the first 5 website templates be created as fully functional live websites (including real content) as well as being templates or will they only be used as base templates (incorporating placeholder content)?  They will be used as base templates.

94. Can you provide a few examples of specific website addresses that might be rebuilt using the new templates?  See answer to Q1 of Discover and Audit.  
SEO:
What types of keywords do you optimize the current site for? What terms would you like to "own"?  Terms have been identified and will be shared with the selected vendor.

Discover & Auditing:
95. When talking about the digital assets as they relate to academic programs can you please clarify if this is for all of ASU or is it for a specific school? e.g. W. P. Carey School of Business. The reason we ask is to gauge the volume of content we can expect on the site. If possible, please provide the website addresses for the sites that we would be redesigning (program pages & recruitment pages).  These pages will be deployed on a variety of sites.  They may include asu.edu/degreesearch or clas.asu.edu/current-students/academic-programs/majors.
96. Will we have access to previous usability tests conducted by the University?  Yes
User-testing:
97. Is there a specific user testing that you're familiar with and want to be implemented (A/B, Eye Tracking, Recording Click Paths, etc.)? Our concern in responding to this in general terms is that there is such a wide variety of ways to do user-testing. The differences have a material impact on scope, time, and budget.
We have used the following: in person focus group testing, online surveys, heat map analysis, Google analytics and remote testing (Loop11).  

Family of Digital Assets:
98. Can you provide more specifics around what is included in the “Family of Digital Assets”? Are you referring to advertisements, Calls to Action, etc.? Examples include call to action buttons (Request for information, visit, apply, etc.), navigation structures, common design for academic program listings.  
General:
99. How many other agencies was this RFP issued to?  There were 17 suppliers total on the bid list for this RFP.  Other firms may respond who were not on the original bid list.
100. Can we get guest access to Google analytics prior to submitting our response to the RFP?  No.  Only selected vendor will have access.
101. What is the estimated start date of phase 2? The start date for phase 2 has not yet been determined.

Please remember that Proposals are to be mailed or delivered to Arizona State University Purchasing and Business Services 1551 S. Rural Rd. Tempe, AZ 85281, no later than 3:00 P.M., MST, 07/29/13.
If you have any questions regarding this notice, please contact me at 480-965-8049 or Kevin.hall@asu.edu.  You may also find RFP 031401 and any updates at http://www.asu.edu/purchasing/bids/index.html 
Thank you,

Kevin Hall  
Kevin Hall, Sr. Buyer

Arizona State University

Purchasing & Business Services

File:
RFP #031401
